EMPOWERING SMALLHOLDER FARMERS IN DATA-DRIVEN AGRICULTURE THROUGH BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY

SSP3021 Master Thesis (15 ECTS)

Daniel Acosta Stasiukynas – IDnr. 6368752

1st Supervisor: Dr. Ron Cörvers 2nd Supervisor: Sidi Amar

Word Count: 14.200 words

June 21st 2024

Master Programme Sustainability Science, Policy and Society Maastricht Sustainability Institute | Maastricht University Over the past few decades, the integration of various forms of information and communication technology into agricultural practice has led to the emergence of new agricultural production modalities, characterized by increased agricultural output – a phenomenon commonly referred to as "data-driven agriculture." The existing literature acknowledges both the potential for data-driven agriculture to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers and the necessity for this new mode of agricultural production to incorporate elements of relatively new digital technologies, including machine learning, the Internet of Things, and blockchain technology. Although the blockchain has been identified as a key enabler for data-driven agriculture, the impact of integrating blockchain technology into data-driven agriculture applications on the livelihoods of smallholder farmers remains unresolved. This study aims to address this issue by examining how functionalities enabled by blockchain technology, such as the ability to immutably and reliably store information and blockchain's ability to reconfigure networks of actors, can be leveraged to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. This may be achieved by either furthering product traceability along the supply chain, reducing transaction costs, or enabling data-driven yield optimization. To this end, three case studies of commercially active blockchain-enabled applications are analyzed. The study demonstrates that all three case studies have the potential to significantly reduce transaction costs. However, the degree to which supply chain traceability can be enhanced is heavily dependent on whether a given application is able to capture the totality of a given agricultural supply chain. None of the analyzed case studies provide insight into the means of enabling data-driven yield optimization practices for smallholders, as the examined systems do not collect relevant information to enable data-driven yield optimization. It is recommended that future research be directed towards the solution of this particular issue, as well as the implementation of a more granular approach to define the different functionalities enabled by blockchain technology to better understand its role in this context.

Table of Contents

1.	INTRO	DDUCTION	5	
2.	DATA	DRIVEN AGRICULTURE, BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY AND SMALLHOLDER FARMERS	8	
	2.1.	SMALLHOLDER FARMERS AND THEIR LIVELIHOODS	8	
	2.2.	THE INTEGRATION OF DATA STREAMS INTO AGRICULTURAL PRACTICE	9	
	2.3.	THE OPPORTUNITIES OF DATA-DRIVEN AGRICULTURE FOR SMALLHOLDER FARMERS	.10	
	2.4.	THE ROLE OF BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY IN DATA-DRIVEN AGRICULTURE	.12	
	2.5.	THE APPLICATION OF BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY IN DATA-DRIVEN AGRICULTURE	.13	
	2.5.1.	Record-keeping functionality of blockchain	.13	
	2.5.2.	Network functionality of blockchain	.14	
	2.6.	ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK	.15	
3.	RESE	ARCH METHODOLOGY	15	
4.	RESU	LTS OF THE CASE STUDY ANALYSIS	18	
	4.1.	Hello Tractor	.18	
	4.1.1.	Network functionality of Hello Tractor	.19	
	4.1.2.	Effects on transaction costs	.20	
	4.1.3.	Effects on supply chain traceability	.21	
	4.1.4.	Potential for yield optimization	.21	
	4.1.5.	Impact on smallholders' livelihoods	.21	
	4.2.	AgriUT	.22	
	4.2.1.	Record-keeping functionality of AgriUT	.23	
	4.2.2.	Effects on transaction costs	.23	
	4.2.3.	Effects on supply chain traceability	.24	
	4.2.4.	Potential for yield optimization	.25	
	4.2.5.	Impact on smallholders' livelihoods	.25	
	4.3.	Agrikore	.26	
	4.3.1.	Hybrid functionalities of Agrikore	.27	
	4.3.2.	Effects on transaction costs	.27	
	4.3.3.	Effects on supply chain traceability	.28	
	4.3.4.	Potential for yield optimization	.29	
	4.3.5.	Impact on smallholders' livelihoods	.29	
	4.4.	FINDINGS	.30	
5.	DISCL	JSSION	33	
6.	6. REFERENCES			
APPENDIX A: OVERVIEW OF THE INITIAL CASE STUDY SELECTION				
AI	PPENDIX	B: DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY MASTER'S THESIS	45	
A	APPENDIX C: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS (SDG) STATEMENT			

List of tables

TABLE 1: OVERVIEW OF THE ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF BLOCKCHAIN ON SMALLHOLDERS' LIVELIHOODS	
	5
TABLE 2: OVERVIEW OF THE CASE STUDIES SELECTED FOR ANALYSIS BASED ON THE FUNCTION SERVED BY BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY IN	
THE APPLICATION	3
Table 3: Overview of the main findings of the case study analysis. 3)

List of abbreviations

AI	-	Artificial intelligence
dApps	_	Decentralized applications
IoT	-	Internet of Things
ICT	-	Information and communication technology
SCF	_	Supply chain finance
SLF	_	Sustainable livelihoods framework

1. Introduction

Over the last decades, the advent of new data processing and collection techniques has allowed for the successive improvement of value generation in different economic sectors such as finance, manufacturing, transportation, etc. Agriculture has not been excluded from these developments, and given the consequences of climate change, the role of data in the agricultural sector is expected to become ever more important over time (Rozenstein et al., 2024). Proponents of data-driven agriculture argue that data collection and processing would help farmers, governments, private corporations, and NGOs representing various interest groups to address issues ranging from reduced crop yield, climate change adaptation, prevention and treatment of plagues, to food security (Mehrabi et al., 2021). Generally, information about the physical conditions on the fields, the behavioral patterns of farmers, climatic conditions or soil degradation can be collected, operationalized, and processed, to generate insights for other stakeholders enabling them to develop new products, reallocate resources, enhance distribution channels of existing agricultural products, or even plan for policy intervention, which, in turn, allows for the optimization of agricultural production. Accordingly, the implementation of data-driven agriculture depends on the creation of a data ecosystem guaranteeing that relevant data is collected, generally on-site, and then transferred for processing to non-farmer stakeholders.

Furthermore, the last decade has also witnessed the advent of blockchain technology and its evolution from a mere peer-to-peer transaction network to a decentralized platform allowing for the development of decentralized applications (dApps) (Wu, 2019) and the collection of real-world data (Al-Breiki et al., 2020). More specifically, the advent of smart contracts, self-executing contracts with the terms of an agreement directly written into code, has allowed for an automatized manner to govern possible interactions between participants who do not know or trust each other in a decentralized network without having to rely on a centralized third party (Varfolomeev et al., 2021), and so-called oracles, services that provide external data to smart contracts enabling them to interact and operationalize information outside the blockchain, allow for the collection of real-world information and its storage on the blockchain. These technological developments have been praised for generating efficiency gains in sectors where recordkeeping must be tamper-proof and accessible such as in sustainable supply chain management (Saberi et al., 2019) and can effectively be leveraged to govern data collection, access to the collected data, and enable Internet of Things (IoT) interactions

within a data ecosystem (Atlam et al., 2020). The literature shows that crop yields can benefit from blockchain-based systems by automating data collection through the use of IoT sensors and devices and making the collected data immutable and accessible to the relevant stakeholders to improve farming practices (Rehman et al., 2023). Consequently, it can be assumed that blockchain technology will be yet another important element together with artificial intelligence (AI) and IoT in the data architecture of sustainable farming.

Even though the value generated by implementing data-driven agriculture represents a Pareto improvement, as it improves the economic situation of some stakeholders without deterring the economic situation of others, the fairness aspects of data-driven agriculture have been subject to heavy criticism (Ferris & Rahman, 2017). The issue is that a substantial share of the food produced globally is grown by smallholder farmers (Ricciardi et al., 2018) i.e., farmers with plots of land smaller than two hectares. Smallholder farmers are generally poor, mostly located in the Global South, lack access to basic infrastructure, and most importantly, lack the necessary knowledge as to how the data they generate can be leveraged for data-driven agriculture, thus resulting in epistemic power differences between smallholder farmers and other value chain stakeholders, effectively putting them at a disadvantaged bargaining position (Leta et al., 2018). This poses a problem insofar as smallholder farmers are critical in their role as data generators for enabling data-driven agriculture but barely profit from the transition towards data-driven agriculture (Thatcher et al., 2016). Accordingly, the added value resulting from transitioning towards data-driven agricultural practices is captured by other actors along the value chain leaving little to the smallholder farmer. While the implementation of blockchain has been proven both to enhance crop yield and unleash the benefits of data-driven agriculture on an aggregate level and to present an alternative for fairer data markets (Khapre et al., 2021), little attention has been granted to how this technology can be deployed to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers in the context of data-driven agriculture. Thus, the central research question of this study arises:

RQ: How can blockchain technology be leveraged to improve the smallholder farmers' livelihoods in the context of data-driven agriculture?

By answering the research question, this study aims to provide an exploratory analysis as to how blockchain technology can be potentially deployed in the context of data-driven agriculture to guarantee that smallholder farmers benefit from the transition towards data-driven agriculture. Given the scope and nature of this analysis, the main objective is to provide exploratory advice to practitioners as to what structural aspects ought to be considered when integrating elements of blockchain technology into solutions for data-driven agriculture, so these would improve the livelihoods of smallholders. This study assumes that the efficiency gains generated by the implementation of data-driven agriculture alongside increasing demand for sustainable production will ultimately lead to more use of blockchain-based elements in the context of smallholder agriculture. Accordingly, it is expected that professionals aiming at developing data-driven sustainable agriculture projects in the future, could potentially benefit from the insights of this study.

It is important to note that the scope of this study is restricted to analyzing how the implementation of blockchain designs in sustainable data-driven agriculture could ultimately improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers both in terms of technology and other domains, and not to exploring which external conditions are conducive to the implementation of such designs. This will ultimately limit the applicability of the insights produced throughout this study to settings, where external conditions i.e., structural issues, such as internet connectivity rates in rural areas or established socio-cultural practices conducive to the adoption of technological innovation, can be reasonably be assumed to be conducive to the integration of blockchain technology to data-driven agricultural practice.

Given the novelty of real-world blockchain applications, especially in agriculture, addressing the research question will contribute to the literature insofar as it would provide practitioners with design considerations that would allow them to facilitate data-driven agriculture in a manner improving the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. This is relevant because blockchain designs have beneficial attributes such as immutability, data consistency, and potential for the automatization of data collection (Liao et al., 2021), that together with other technologies will be fundamental to enable a data economy around agricultural practice (Kamble et al., 2020), and address sustainability issues (Rozenstein et al., 2024). The relevance of answering the research question derives from the fact, that smallholder farmers are the most vulnerable stakeholders in global agricultural value chains, and that the improvement of their living conditions in the Global South is considered one of the most pressing issues to be addressed when striving for sustainable development (Cohn et al., 2017). In theory, the initial exploratory analysis resulting from the research question could potentially pave the way for practitioners to develop blockchain-based solutions for sustainable data-driven agriculture that account for the most vulnerable stakeholders in global agricultural supply chains. Therefore, this research will highlight the importance of studying the development of blockchain-based solutions for data-driven agriculture while considering the perspective of smallholder farmers.

2. Data-driven agriculture, blockchain technology and smallholder farmers

2.1. Smallholder farmers and their livelihoods

In general, smallholder farmers, are any type of farmers relying on relatively small plots land (less than two hectares) for their subsistence (Kamara et al., 2019). Smallholders are a heterogenous group that spans across geographies, ethnicities, religions, and cultures. While smallholders in the Global North have more access to resources and are more productive than their counterparts in the Global South (Rauch & Brüntrup, 2021), smallholders in the Global South face a unique set of challenges that makes the one of the most vulnerable stakeholders in global agricultural supply chains (Vicol et al., 2018). These differences are reflected by the relevance of improving the livelihoods of smallholders in these different geographies to alleviate poverty and enhance food security (Raj et al., 2022). Regardless of this distinction, most smallholders are located in developing countries and form the backbone of agricultural production in these countries. (Rapsomanikis, 2015). Generally, smallholder farmers lack access to markets, rely on family labor to generate farm income, are poor, live in rural areas and are substantially less productive than types of farmers that utilize larger plots and deploy more capitalintensive farming techniques (Harvey et al., 2014). The livelihoods of smallholders are heavily constrained and improving their livelihoods is regarded as a precondition to eradicate hunger and poverty globally (Terlau et al., 2019). The need to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers results from the fact that most of all farms worldwide are owned by smallholders and that a very substantial share of the agricultural output of some regions e.g., Sub-Saharan Africa, is grown by smallholder farmers (Nyambo et al., 2019). Sustainable development is therefore not viable without making considerable efforts to improve the living conditions of smallholder farmers, especially in the Global South (Bagheramiri & Keshvarz Shaal, 2020).

There is an imperative to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers if sustainable development is to be pursued, however, what constitutes a livelihood, and improvements thereof need to be defined first. For assessing this issue, the United Nations has developed the sustainable livelihoods framework (SLF) (Elizondo et al., 2017). This analytical framework encompasses the capabilities and different types of capital used by individuals and communities to survive. Furthermore, it implies that communities and individuals have certain stocks of different types of capital and that interventions to promote human development, i.e. to improve the living conditions of those affected, should increase the stock of a particular type of capital without jeopardizing the other stocks of other types of capital. The types of capital examined in this framework are human capital, i.e. the abilities, skills and state of health;

social capital, i.e. the sum of horizontal and vertical relationships in a social group and their quality in terms of trust and reciprocity; natural capital, i.e. the total stock of available natural resources and their respective carrying capacity; physical capital, i.e. the available physical, man-made infrastructure; and financial capital, i.e. the financial resources available to carry out various economic activities. (Elizondo et al., 2017). This conceptualization of livelihood will be used throughout this study, and an improvement in the livelihoods of smallholder farmers will be understood, as increases in any of the capital stocks encompassed by the SLF that do not cause reductions in other types of capital stock.

2.2. The integration of data streams into agricultural practice

The integration of information technology into agricultural practice is generally possible over four different information streams (Maru et al., 2018), which can be typologized according to which type of information is collected, and where the processed information is deployed. First, there is the possibility to collect information on-site, process it and directly deploy it on the same plot where it was collected. An example of this practice would be to collect spatial and soil data to try to optimize yield using predictive models (Taylor & Amidy, 2020). Here farmers, either directly, or indirectly over an agent, own the collected data (Maru et al., 2018). Second, there is the possibility for farmers to use so-called imported data i.e., leveraging data streams that are generated off-site and are valuable to increase production on-site (Maru et al., 2018). An example thereof would be that a farmer leverages information collected elsewhere, such as climatic models to select which crops to plant, thus mitigating certain crop-specific risks. Accordingly, here farmers leverage data owned by others for the pursuit of their own interest, thus importing data. Third, data collected on-site can be deployed by other actors across the value chain to improve their internal processes (Maru et al., 2018) e.g., an insurance company could leverage information collected on-site to better assess underlying risks and more efficiently price a given insurance for a given plot, thus exporting data. Fourth, so-called ancillary data is generated off-site and utilized off-site to conduct activities indirectly affecting farmers (Maru et al., 2018). Here, other stakeholders, such as state-owned statistical agencies, could potentially collect information of the farms to develop policies, such as land-use plans, that indirectly influence the capacity of farmers to conduct their farming activities. Data-driven agriculture relies on the integration of these different types of information streams into agricultural practice and a single application aiming to enable data-driven agriculture can leverage one or more of these streams simultaneously to serve the interests of different actors across the value chain respectively (Rambhia et al., 2021).

2.3. The opportunities of data-driven agriculture for smallholder farmers

One of the most pressing issues that smallholder farmers face is their low productivity compared to more capital-intensive agricultural production modes (Harvey et al., 2014). This problem has become even more pressing in the last decade as changing climatic conditions have distorted weather patterns worldwide and exacerbated biotic stressors such as pests and diseases, further reducing the productivity of smallholder farmers in the Global South (Tabar et al., 2022). One of the most salient examples of how farmers in general, and smallholder farmers in particular, can utilize data-driven agriculture applications is by basing their planning on imported information to decide what to produce, when to produce it, how to better store it, and how to better deliver it to market (Maru et al., 2018). It is common for smallholders to plan their activities based on their intuition and traditions; however, it has been empirically proved, that a shift from this type of practice towards planning based on predictive models results in significantly higher productivity (Musshoff & Hirschauer, 2008). Accordingly, the generation, processing, and import of relevant information streams for agricultural planning promises to be an important feature of data-driven agriculture that could lead to an improvement in the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, provided this information is made available to them, as this would allow smallholders to increase productivity and mitigate risks through the implementation of yield optimizing farming practices.

The end-to-end traceability of food supply chains is another important structural feature of datadriven agriculture, as the optimization of agricultural production through predictive models and machine learning requires that information about the location, agricultural inputs, transport, and processing of agricultural products is recorded and operationalized (Kamble et al., 2020). Recording this information is not only necessary for the development of data-driven agricultural ecosystems, but also creates added value for consumers and a long-term competitive advantage for smallholder farmers participating in a given data-driven agricultural ecosystem (Babu & Devarajan, 2023). On the one hand, a certain traceability and transparency of the supply chain for agricultural commodities is necessary for smallholders in the Global South to gain access to more profitable export markets such as Japan, the United States, or the entire European Economic Area (Vanany et al., 2015). Improved access to such markets means a long-term advantage for smallholder farmers, as prices for their agricultural products offers a comparative advantage to smallholder farmers both domestically and abroad, as it increases product safety, for which consumers are generally willing to pay a higher price (Babu & Devarajan, 2023). High transaction costs in the agricultural sector effectively translate into high market access barriers, which make it especially hard for smallholder farmers to commercialize their produce (Pingali et al., 2005). Transaction costs can be defined as the total of all heterogeneous costs incurred by an individual when transferring ownership of a good to another individual (Niehans, 1969). The existence of market transactions entails transaction costs for each market participant, such as transportation costs, customs duties, non-tariff barriers, information costs, price discovery costs, contract enforcement costs, etc. Neoclassical economic theory argues that market failure arises when the disutility resulting from transaction costs is higher than the utility gain resulting from transacting in the market (de Janvry et al., 1991). This type of market failure is reflected in the agricultural commodity markets in that buyers, in this case consumers of agricultural commodities, generally pay significantly higher prices than sellers i.e., producers of agricultural commodities, receive for the same good, thus explaining why a significant share of smallholder farmers decide to produce for self-subsistence instead of farming to sell their produce in the market (Cuevas, 2014). This price difference is generally captured by intermediaries i.e., rational economic actors mediating between sellers and buyers enabling the transactions in the first place, and leaving little to smallholders. In theory, devising mechanisms to reduce transaction costs in agricultural supply chains seems like a way forward to improve the livelihoods of smallholders. There is empirical evidence that integrating simple information and communication technology (ICT) into farming practices, such as cell phones, effectively lowers transaction costs for smallholder farmers by reducing various types of information costs, ultimately leading to a greater proportion of smallholder farmers accessing commodity markets (De Silva & Ratnadiwakara, 2008). Data-driven agriculture represents the natural evolution of this type of simple integration of ICT to improve connectivity within agricultural supply chains, and this improved connectivity between smallholder farmers and other actors has the potential to reduce transaction costs for smallholder farmers and ultimately open market access opportunities that would otherwise go unrealized. The literature argues that the main types of transaction costs incurred by smallholders result either from the use of resources to find suitable contract partners (in the form of travel costs, time and communication costs), from negotiating with potential contract partners, from setting contract terms, and from enforcing existing contractual relationships (Cuevas, 2014). Accordingly, applications of data-driven agriculture that effectively address these issues can safely be assumed to pose an opportunity to improve the livelihoods of smallholders, as they tackle the underlying issue of high transaction costs, ultimately enabling smallholders to engage in market exchange.

It seems that the situation of smallholder farmers in agricultural supply chains can be improved by the expansion of data-driven agriculture, provided that the concrete applications of data-driven

agriculture either provide them with useful information that they can use for better planning, or structurally offer opportunities for transparency and traceability along the value chain, or lead to an effective reduction in transaction costs that enable smallholder farmers to access markets. Accordingly, these three dimensions offer a useful framework to assess the degree to which concrete data-driven agriculture applications benefit smallholder farmers.

2.4. The role of blockchain technology in data-driven agriculture

Blockchain technology, also known as distributed ledger technology, is a type of ICT that enables the creation of a decentralized chronological ledger that is managed and maintained collectively by its users, does not require a trusted central third party, and has a high level of tamper resistance (Bhatia et al., 2023). In a blockchain information is recorded in so-called blocks. Each block i.e., each unit of information, has three elements: an identifier, the identifier of the previous block in the blockchain, and the information stored in the block itself. All blocks are connected to each other, effectively leveraging these three elements, to form a chain, which guarantees that all information is recorded securely and chronologically (Menon & Jain, 2024). New blocks are added to the chain through a transparent consensus mechanism that distributes the existing chain among all network participants and guarantees that only new valid blocks are added to the blockchain by applying game theory (Bocek & Stiller, 2018). Participants conducting transactions on the blockchain span a network of actors who are collectively responsible for maintaining the infrastructure that makes distributed recording possible in the first place, and recording information on the blockchain requires coordination among actors so that the new information recorded on the blockchain is shared and trusted by all contributing actors. Participants who are willing to engage with other actors on the blockchain, i.e. initiate a transaction, pay a fee in the form of a token contained in the blockchain. The actors who add new information (new blocks) to the blockchain compete in a probabilistic manner for the right to do so. Once an actor has obtained the right to add a new block to the blockchain, they will only be rewarded with digital tokens if they have not tampered with the data already recorded. If they act maliciously and tamper with existing records to alter the state of the blockchain, they forgo all potential rewards and must bear the cost of attempting to add a new block to the blockchain (either in the form of electricity, other real-world inputs or a certain amount of locked digital tokens). This translates into a game-theoretic approach, where the Nash equilibrium lies in all actors cooperating for the correct maintenance of the blockchain (Qian & Ding, 2024).

This technological design effectively translates into a set of unique attributes of blockchain technology, such as decentralization, immutability, and transparency, which can be effectively leveraged for supply

chain applications (Bhatia et al., 2023). Consequently, implementing blockchain solutions into existing or new digital ecosystems results in networks where different actors are interconnected through the blockchain i.e., the collective maintenance of the underlying ledger, where all actors can quickly and easily read all transactions recorded in the blockchain, and where actors can freely interact with each other without needing to rely on a trusted authority to guarantee trustworthy recordkeeping (Shin, 2019). Furthermore, the possibility to govern interactions between network participants through socalled smart contracts i.e., pieces of code that trigger a change of state in the blockchain once a given precondition has been fulfilled, allows to design and enforce different types of interactions within a given blockchain-based ecosystem, effectively facilitating the operationalization of this technology for a given business purpose (Khan et al., 2021). This represents a shift in the governance of interactions in a given ecosystem, in that the technology allows agreements between actors who do not know or trust each other to be automatically enforced by computers (Balcerzak et al., 2022), rather than relying on a trusted third party, such as government agencies.

2.5. The application of blockchain technology in data-driven agriculture

There are different manners in which blockchain technology can be integrated in the context of datadriven agriculture. Even though most applications do not pursue a single objective, identifying the main key objectives of the deployment of blockchain technology in applications in agriculture allows for understanding how this innovation plays out (Bhatia et al., 2023). The identification of two types of functionalities through which blockchain elements are integrated into digital services in data-driven agriculture enables the creation of a typology of agricultural blockchain applications that can be used to assess the impact of each type of blockchain-based solution on smallholder farmers' livelihoods.

2.5.1. Record-keeping functionality of blockchain

One of the most prominently examined use cases of blockchain technology in the literature is its usage for enhancing the traceability of agricultural products along the different stages of their respective value chains (Patelli & Mandrioli, 2020). In general, the use of blockchain technology to pursue this overarching goal leads to improved traceability in three domains: the distribution of agricultural goods, the origin and procurement of inputs, and quality assurance and safety (Menon & Jain, 2024). Firstly, all distribution-related activities such as transportation, storage, and relevant commercial transactions can be effectively recorded on the blockchain and are easily accessible to interested parties, increasing the transparency of distribution activities that an agricultural product goes throughout the supply chain (Bhat et al., 2022). Secondly, the implementation of blockchain as a record-keeping mechanism enables the transparent tracking of where a particular agricultural commodity is produced, what types of inputs are used for its production, such as the type of fertilizer used, and what other steps a particular commodity goes through in terms of processing (Patelli & Mandrioli, 2020). Thirdly, the integration of sensors and other IoT devices into blockchain-based traceability initiatives allows for monitoring external conditions, such as heat or humidity levels, that might have detrimental effects on the safety and quality of agricultural products (Xu et al., 2022). All the use cases described above for improving traceability leverage blockchain's record-keeping capability, combined with the easy accessibility of the underlying data, to develop agricultural solutions that create value for consumers by providing accurate and reliable information about the global value chain of a particular agricultural commodity.

2.5.2. Network functionality of blockchain

Alternative use cases of blockchain technology in agriculture take advantage of the fact that blockchains can be conceptualized as distributed networks of participants, that interact economically with each other without knowing or trusting each other or having to rely on third parties, i.e. intermediaries, to enable new modes of cooperation across the network (Zamani & Giaglis, 2018). Instead of generating value on the side of consumers by optimizing the traceability of agricultural value chains across different domains, this type of application generates value on the supply side by disintermediating different stages of the value chain, effectively reducing transaction costs across the value chain (Du et al., 2020). Good examples of how the network character of blockchains is harnessed to reduce transaction costs can be found in blockchain-based supply chain finance (SCF) initiatives in agriculture (Bhatia et al., 2023). Supply chain finance aims at optimizing financing within a given supply chain by optimizing cash and information flows between different stakeholders (Camerinelli, 2009). For instance, there are commercial ventures that use blockchain technology to optimize intermediation between farmers facing structural liquidity constraints and potential lenders, ultimately leading to better financial conditions for farmers and, thus, an increase in profitability (Bhatia et al., 2023). Accordingly, leveraging the nature of blockchains as networks interconnecting different types of actors in conjunction with the implementation of smart contracts to code different types of actions between these actors, presents an alternative functionality to record-keeping.

It is worth noting that the two functionalities described above are not necessarily mutually exclusive, as one can imagine that both the network and record-keeping functionalities of applications leveraging blockchain technology can be simultaneously utilized to enable and promote data-driven agriculture. Nonetheless, these two functionalities of blockchain elements in data-driven agriculture solutions represent two different ways to conceptualize how blockchain technology contributes to the creation of data-driven agricultural ecosystems and will be operationalized accordingly during the analysis.

2.6. Analytical framework

As mentioned above, elements of blockchain technology are employed in data-driven agriculture to perform two types of functions: either to leverage the record-keeping capabilities of blockchain technology to create a tamper-proof ledger of all possible transformations that a given agricultural commodity undergoes in the value chain, and/or to enable new types of interactions between a network of actors stabilized by the blockchain itself. In addition, improvements in three dimensions reduced transaction costs, improved supply chain traceability and improved planning capabilities have been identified in the literature as effective means of improving the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. This study will examine how the different functions identified impact smallholder farmers' livelihoods by qualitatively analyzing how each of these functions is used in the context of real-world data-driven agricultural applications and how it impacts the identified dimensions to assess how blockchain technology can potentially be used to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers more broadly. Analyzing real-life applications that have networking and/or record-keeping capabilities and their impact on farmers' livelihoods will shed light on how different ways of integrating blockchain technology into data-driven agriculture can be used to solve specific problems faced by smallholder farmers. The juxtaposition of these two dimensions provides an analytical framework for the analysis, which is illustrated in Table 1.

Mechanisms for improving the	Functionality of blockchain in data-driven agriculture applications		
livelihoods of smallholders	Record-keeping	Spanning networks of actors	
Reducing transaction costs	To be analyzed by examining	To be analyzed by examining	
	real-world applications	real-world applications	
Enhancing traceability	To be analyzed by examining	To be analyzed by examining	
	real-world applications	real-world applications	
Enabling yield optimization	To be analyzed by examining	To be analyzed by examining	
	real-world applications	real-world applications	

Table 1: Overview of the analytical framework for assessing the impact of blockchain on smallholders' liveli	hoods
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------

3. Research methodology

This study will aim to answer the research question by pursuing a mostly constructivist qualitative approach. The nature of this study is purely exploratory and some overarching assumptions about

what constitutes an improvement of the livelihoods of smallholder farmers are made. The exploratory scope of the study justifies this approach. It is assumed that improving the livelihoods of smallholder farmers is the result of implementing any design approach that provides an increase in any of the different capital stocks analyzed by the SLF for smallholder farmers, either individually or collectively, by enabling them to increase their yields through improved planning, reduce transaction costs so that selling their products on the market becomes economically viable, or improve traceability in the supply chain so that their products can potentially fetch a higher price, without jeopardizing the other capital stocks. Accordingly, data-driven agricultural applications that lead to improvements in these areas compared to the status quo are considered to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, ceteris paribus.

To assess the extent to which data-driven agricultural applications related to blockchain can potentially improve smallholder farmers' livelihoods, a set (n=13) of real, commercially active applications were identified through desk research. Relevant cases were identified deploying a combination of desk research and snowball sampling, which is a common approach when conducting constructivist qualitative research (Noy, 2008). Initially, a series of search queries with keywords such as "blockchain", "digital solutions for agriculture", "digital applications in agriculture", "precision agriculture", "applications for small farmers", "data-driven agriculture applications", etc. were entered into publicly available search engines such as *google, SSRN, typset.io, web of science* and *google scholar*. This initial query yielded a significant number of websites, newspaper articles, white papers, policy documents, scientific articles and other types of documents. The sources and references used in these documents were further investigated to identify even more applications, leading to an iterative desk research process. All cases were related to the implementation of data-driven solutions for agriculture and contained elements of blockchain technology in their architecture.

The main selection criteria for including cases studies into the case study pool were that the applications in question were commercially active at the time of writing and that they included blockchain technology as a fundamental part of their underlying architecture. This has led to the exclusion of ventures that are still at an early stage of development or have ceased operations, as their impact is impossible to assess in practice, as well as other data-driven agricultural applications that do not utilize blockchain technology for their value proposition, or only to a limited extent.

As the main purpose of this study is to explore how the use of blockchain technology in the context of data-driven agriculture can impact the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, all applications studied were

qualitatively categorized as either low, moderate or high, depending on the extent to which smallholder farmers are prevalent in the ecosystems studied. The prevalence of smallholders was assessed by examining how often smallholders were explicitly mentioned on the websites, in the documents and other publicly available sources of the case studies in question. Cases in which smallholders were not mentioned or only marginally mentioned were categorized as low, cases in which smallholders were mentioned alongside other types of farmers were categorized as moderate, and cases in which the value proposition was mainly directed at smallholders were categorized as high. All blockchain applications where the preeminence of smallholders to the overall ecosystem was considered moderate or low were not included in the analysis (n=9), as these can be considered applications of data-driven agriculture that focus on farmers in a broader sense rather than smallholders and are beyond the scope of this study.

The remaining cases (n=4) were then divided into different subsets. For this purpose, the network functionality, i.e. the extent to which the blockchain applications in question aim to connect actors in agricultural supply chains in new ways, and the record-keeping functionality, i.e. the extent to which the applications aim to capture information about the different stages of value creation in agricultural value chains, of the respective applications were qualitatively classified as either low, medium or high. This classification method resulted in three subsets: a first one where the applications have a high score for the network functionality (n=2) i.e., where the main function of the blockchain was to enable new types of interactions between different actors across the value chain; a second one where the ledger functionality of the applications has a high score (n=1) i.e., where the main function of the blockchain is to record processes taking place at different stages of the supply chain; and a third one where both functionalities were equally present (n=1). For the first subset, a selection procedure was implemented where the application with the lowest score on the ledger functionality of the application was selected for analysis. This is justified in that selecting the application with the lowest score for ledger functionality allows the study to better explore how the network nature of blockchain-based data-driven agriculture has the potential to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. The selection and classification methods used provided the study with three different case studies to examine how applications that focus on either connecting supply chain actors with smallholder farmers in new constellations, capturing information about the different stages of value creation in the value chain, or a combination of both characteristics, impact the livelihoods of smallholder farmers in the real world.

The analysis will rely on document analysis to assess the impact of each of the selected cases in relation to the identified dimensions that have been demonstrated to improve the livelihoods of the smallholder farmers involved, namely (i) enhanced supply chain traceability, (ii) provision of yield optimization information, and (iii) reduction of transaction costs. The analysis will also delve into the equipment and infrastructure requirements to assess the extent to which the examined blockchain applications can be potentially translated to other agricultural contexts involving smallholder farmers. An overview of the case studies selected for the subsequent analysis is found in Table 2.

Table 2: Overview of the case studies selected for analysis based on the function served by blockchain technology in the application

	Low network functionality	High network functionality
Low record-keeping functionality	N/A	Hello Tractor
High record-keeping functionality	AgriUT	Agrikore

4. Results of the case study analysis

4.1. Hello Tractor

Hello Tractor is a Kenyan company providing a platform for matchmaking between smallholders and mechanization service providers for the rental of tractors in a pay-per-use model. The company started operations in 2014 and its initial value proposition was to manufacture affordable low horsepower two-wheeled tractors with some monitoring equipment for Kenyan cooperatives and to provide a platform for cooperatives to serve smallholder farmers to amortize the initial cost of the machines (Cline & Emmanuel, 2019). In 2017, however, the company changed its strategic focus from improving on the tractor design per se and redirected most of its financial resources to further develop the tractor-sharing platform to reach even more smallholders (Chona, 2021). Currently, the Hello Tractor platform is used by over 250.000 smallholder farmers across five African countries and is expected to continue expanding (Cline & Emmanuel, 2019). Even though mechanical plowing has been proven to increase crop yield (Atidegla et al., 2017), smallholders generally do not rely on this technique because it is impossible for them to recover the cost of acquiring mechanical equipment such as tractors, simply because their plots are too small (Achoja & Aliber, 2021). Hello tractor effectively enables smallholder farmers to overcome this problem by implementing a sharing economy ecosystem in which smallholder farmers can mechanically plow their plots on a pay-per-use basis and wealthier actors, such as cooperatives, can amortize the cost of the machines by meeting smallholder farmers' demand

for mechanical plowing. Hello Tractor has been praised for promoting the "Uberization of mechanical plowing" (Daum et al., 2021), a change of practice, where similar to scheduling transportation over Uber in dense areas, smallholders can schedule mechanical plowing services simply by leveraging an application over a smartphone. This model is highly beneficial to smallholder farmers, as it has been shown that replacing manual plowing with mechanical plowing leads to a significant increase in farm income through higher yields (Achoja & Aliber, 2021), thus significantly improving the financial capital base of smallholders.

4.1.1. Network functionality of Hello Tractor

Like other applications in the data-driven agriculture sector, Hello Tractor uses both IoT and blockchain technology to deliver its services. Through a series of sensors installed on the tractors in the network, the tractors collect real-world information about the use of the tractors, such as usage, the identity of the users, fuel consumption, ownership, relevant transactions, etc., which is automatically stored in a blockchain (Parmar & Shah, 2020). Accordingly, for Hello Tractor blockchain serves as the backbone for transparent and immutable information collection that is used to enhance trust and prevent fraud between actors in the Hello Tractor ecosystem, and it is the immutability of the data stored in the blockchain that comes into serves as a trust enhancing mechanism in the Hello Tractor ecosystem (Daum et al., 2021). From the tractor owners' perspective, the blockchain component of the Hello Tractor platform provides a robust ICT infrastructure that allows them to track their machines in real time and makes it difficult for malicious actors to steal the machines, as state changes in a blockchain are tamper-proof and immutable. From the smallholders' perspective, the platform offers them with information about verified mechanization service providers, their geographical location, their track record and reviews from other smallholders, which smallholders can trust because the information stored in the blockchain cannot be easily tampered with (Hofmann et al., 2017) to defraud them. This becomes apparent when comparing similar ventures driving the "Uberization of tractors" that rely on cloud-based storage for data collection and storage instead of blockchain technology, as the risk of tampering with the information stored in such systems is significantly higher (Sharma & Kaur, 2023). Consequently, the implementation of blockchain technology in the context of Hello Tractor is not fundamentally necessary for the operation of the network but serves rather the purpose of assuring actors in this ecosystem that they will not be defrauded.

Given the context in which Hello Tractor operates, in rural communities in Africa, trust-enhancing measures are especially important for the acceptance and subsequent adoption of technological solutions as rural communities in these regions are especially distrustful of actors outside their respective communities (Daum et al., 2021). The main objective of the deployment of blockchain

technology elements in the context of Hello Tractor is to enable new modes of cooperation between actors in the value chain through a technological solution that enables these very forms of cooperation. While the platform provides records as to the usage of mechanized plowing for growing agricultural goods, it fails to capture other stages of the value chain. Consequently, in the Hello Tractor ecosystem, the network functionality of blockchain technology dominates over its record-keeping functionality.

4.1.2. Effects on transaction costs

Hello Tractor has been acknowledged to effectively sink transaction costs for smallholder farmers willing to engage in mechanized plowing (Daum et al., 2021). To better understand how transaction costs are reduced through the implementation of Hello Tractor, the alternative for African smallholders willing to hire mechanized plowing services needs to be analyzed. Without the platform smallholders would find themselves in a situation where they would need to find other parties and negotiate the concrete terms for rental of tractors individually, thus incurring in high information and price discovery costs (Anidi et al., 2020). Furthermore, it has been acknowledged that adoption of tractor usage in smallholder communities across Africa has been low because of low levels of social trust, which result in increased default risk, which , in turn, further increases transaction costs for traditional tractor rental services (de Brauw & Bulte, 2021). Transaction cost theory predicts that a actors will not enter the market if the disutility of participating in the market is higher than the expected utility of engaging in market transactions due to high transaction costs (Cuevas, 2014). This is generally the case of tractor rental services in African countries, even though renting tractors would significantly increase their yield and thus their income, the transaction costs for renting them in such geographies has been generally too high for smallholders to engage in the tractor rental market (Anidi et al., 2020). Accordingly, the rapid expansion of Hello Tractor throughout several African nations can be understood as the consequence of a drastic reduction of transaction costs resulting in changes in farming practice, the substitution of manual plowing by mechanized plowing. Hello Tractor shows that transaction costs can be reduced by enabling new modes of collaboration between smallholder farmers and other value chain actors. This is one of the most pressing issues driving smallholder farmers to become selfsufficient instead of participating in market transactions, effectively hindering their economic development (Cuevas, 2014). In this case it is the network character of the underlying blockchain architecture that enables these new modes of cooperation through the implementation of trustenhancing mechanisms ultimately leading to the reduction of transaction costs.

4.1.3. Effects on supply chain traceability

The Hello Tractor platform does not appear to have considerable effects on generating transparency regarding the processes the produce of smallholders undergo throughout the value chain. The use of the platform is restricted to a single stage of value generation in the whole value chain, preparing the plots for growing food. In terms enhancing supply chain transparency the benefits of deploying applications leveraging blockchain in the same manner as hello tractor gains in product traceability are limited. Accordingly, farmers are not expected to benefit from higher prices or access to better priced export markets through the mere usage of with a high network functionality and a limited ledger functionality such as Hello Tractor.

4.1.4. Potential for yield optimization

In terms of enhanced planning, the effects of Hello Tractor are moderate. On the one hand, the very purpose of the application is to allow smallholders to schedule mechanized plowing services, which represents planning efficiency gains compared to the status quo. On the other hand, the application does not provide farmers with relevant information on what to grow, how to grow it, and when to take appropriate measures to optimize yields - one of the most promising features of data-driven agriculture (Maru et al., 2018). Notwithstanding the restricted role of smallholders as data consumers in the Hello Tractor context, other actors in the supply chain might benefit from the collection and processing of data generated by smallholders, which in turn, might benefit smallholders in the form of better products and policies to support them (Maru et al., 2018). Hello tractor has partnered with IBM to integrate AI-based predictive models to its operation, which could potentially be used by banks and governments to optimize credit conditions and agricultural development policies, respectively (IBM, 2018). Consequently, smallholders would play a role as data producers in this context and benefit indirectly from the processing of this data, either by gaining access to better rental conditions for mechanized equipment or through the provision of public services such as road infrastructure.

4.1.5. Impact on smallholders' livelihoods

Even if the infrastructural requirements for using Hello Tractor's services seem negligible - a smartphone and access to mobile networks - access to such infrastructures is still an issue in many African rural regions (Okano et al., 2022), the geographies where Hello Tractor operates. Furthermore, the implementation of Hello Tractor does not radically change social practice. Even though a reduction of transaction costs and an uptake in the use of mechanized plowing equipment is observable, some smallholder communities still rely on booking agents that aggregate scheduling (Daum & Birner, 2020), which leaves space for further disintermediation (Onomu et al., 2020) and thus for further reduction of transaction costs. Accordingly, applications similar in nature to Hello Tractor need to also consider

cultural and infrastructural issues, such as connectivity, to optimize their social impact. Notwithstanding the aforementioned structural problems, the services provided by Hello Tractor led to an increase in two different capital stocks, while not jeopardizing the rest, thus ceteris paribus enhancing the livelihoods of smallholder farmers who use Hello Tractor's services. First, improved yields due to the use of tractors for plowing lead to higher agricultural production and income from farming without significantly affecting the natural, physical, and human capital base of the smallholder farmers who use the services. Second, the social capital base of smallholder farmers is enhanced through the linking of the farmers to a greater proportion of mechanical plowing service providers due to the increase in the number of social relationships that the farmers can potentially engage in.

4.2. AgriUT

The AgriUT Foundation is the issuer of the AgriUT tokens and the enabler of the AgriUT token ecosystem. The AgriUT Foundation is a subsidiary of the Australian social startup AgUnity, which plays a role in the AgriUT ecosystem as the manufacturer of smartphones required to participate in the AgriUT ecosystem. The actors involved in the AgriUT ecosystem are individual smallholders, producer organizations, consumers and AgUnity subsidiaries. The ecosystem is supported smartphones sold by AgUnity to other actors in a given agricultural value chain, which are programmed to manage the distributed ledger system where all information is stored, the AgUnity SuperApp, which serves as an interface for integrating other actors in the value chain through the development of add-on applications, and AgUnity's digital marketplace, through which actors such as smallholder farmers and consumers can interact directly with each other (AgriUT, 2021). This system gives smallholder farmers a digital identity that allows them to create immutable and transparent records of what they produced, where they produced it, who it was sold to, and at what price. Other actors in the ecosystem can easily access this information and purchase the smallholder farmers' products through the marketplace, while tracking their origin and voluntarily giving the smallholder farmers behind the product an additional premium for agricultural practices that align with their own normative preferences (AgriUT, 2021). For example, a consumer who wants to buy coffee that has been grown under fair conditions can compare different types of coffee on the platform and see what price the smallholder farmers have been paid for their produce and, if they are willing, donate money to the smallholder farmer. Such donations are paid to the farmer in the form of AgriUT tokens, which can easily be exchanged by smallholders for fiat currency, thus resulting in increases in the financial capital base of the smallholder farmers in question.

4.2.1. Record-keeping functionality of AgriUT

In the case of the AgriUT network, blockchain technology is integrated into this ecosystem to create a transparent and trustworthy register of the farming conditions under which smallholder farmers produce and the economic conditions to which they are exposed (AgriUT, 2021). This system allows end consumers of agricultural products to follow who grew the product they are consuming, whether producer groups were involved in bringing together the produce of multiple smallholders, where and whether the product was further processed, e.g. by roasting, and which distributors were involved in the supply chain. It is precisely the creation of an unalterable, trustworthy and automated data record through the use of blockchain technology that creates added value for the consumer (AgriUT, 2021). To this end, AgriUT bases its blockchain infrastructure on a public blockchain, the celo blockchain, which in turn has technical features such as low transaction fees, high transaction capability, a strong focus on cell phones and low connectivity requirements (CLabs, n.d.) that are conducive to the integration of IoT sensors in rural areas. Accordingly, the main function of integrating blockchain technology into the AgriUT ecosystem is to enable more efficient record-keeping in global agricultural supply chains. While the AgriUT ecosystem utilizes blockchain technology primarily for record-keeping purposes, the implementation of this blockchain-based system also includes a marginal network functionality that allows end-users to directly reward smallholder farmers and cooperatives for agricultural practices that align with their own normative preferences (AgriUT, 2021). This represents a new mechanism for linking consumers and smallholders, as the technology allows them to donate money directly to smallholders, which is not necessarily possible when buying the same good through other channels. However, this feature does not necessarily change the relationships between smallholders and other actors in the value chain but replicates such connections on the blockchain. Furthermore, consumers' decision to donate money to smallholder farmers is not based on the ability to interact directly with smallholder farmers, but instead on access to information about the different stages of the value chain. Accordingly, the AgriUT ecosystem can be seen as one in which the recordkeeping functionality of blockchain technology outweighs its ability to span networks of actors.

4.2.2. Effects on transaction costs

The use of blockchain technology in this data-driven agricultural application has a dual impact on transaction costs. Firstly, it significantly reduces the cost of donating money from consumers to smallholder farmers by enabling direct transfers between smallholder farmers and consumers that would otherwise have to be intermediated by other actors (AgriUT, 2021). While donations undoubtedly contribute to immediate economic relief for vulnerable communities such as smallholder farmers, for this type of intervention to contribute to sustainable development, i.e. to truly improve the livelihoods of the target groups, they must be accompanied by governance and capacity building

measures (Barr et al., 2005), which is not a feature of the AgriUT ecosystem. Furthermore, it remains unclear whether philanthropy truly contributes to sustainable development of aid receivers as some critics argue that philanthropy further deepens dependency relationships between wealthy donors and less wealthy aid receivers (Pinho, 2014). Secondly, this ecosystem reduces the costs of information exchange between consumers and smallholders, which can be considered a reduction in transaction costs (Cuevas, 2014). However, this specific reduction in transaction costs does not directly affect existing relationships with other actors in the supply chain, such as distributors and retailers. Consequently, it remains unclear whether this form of transaction cost reduction has the potential to significantly alter the relationships between small farmers and other actors in the supply chain, enabling a significant proportion of smallholder farmers to sell their products on the market rather than relying on self-sufficiency (de Janvry et al., 1991). Overall, the AgriUT ecosystem appears to reduce specific transaction costs within its area of application. However, the impact of these reductions on smallholder farmers' livelihoods appears to be moderate at best, as they do not result in changes of smallholder farming practice.

4.2.3. Effects on supply chain traceability

The primary value proposition of the AgiUT platform is to facilitate consumer tracking of the origin of agricultural products consumed. The platform facilitates supply chain transparency by registering all stages of value generation and providing information about the share of the price paid by consumers that smallholders receive and how much of the price paid by consumers is captured by intermediaries e.g., distributors and retailers. Empirical evidence indicates that consumers committed to environmentally friendly and ethical consumption are willing to pay a price premium for products they trust to be produced under fair conditions, thus, explaining the success of certification schemes such as fair trade certifications (Sammer & Wüstenhagen, 2006). The efficacy of traditional fair trade certifications has been the subject of criticism, with the mechanism being deemed economically inefficient in fostering development among smallholder farmers in the long term (Dragusanu et al., 2014). This is due to the fact that the certifiers must at least cover the costs incurred through the certification process (Glasbergen, 2018), which results in them capturing a substantial portion of the price premium that consumers pay for certified agricultural products. In light of the aforementioned criticism, the integration of blockchain technology, as implemented in the AgriUT ecosystem, to record the economic conditions under which smallholder farmers exchange their products offers an alternative for consumers to be reassured that the products they are consuming have been exchanged under fair conditions. The establishment of an ICT system, such as the AgriUT ecosystem, records all relevant information and enables consumers to assess the extent to which the price paid for a particular agricultural product reaches small farmers. Concurrently, consumers can compare the

performance of other comparable products recorded in the AgriUT ecosystem by scanning a QR code on their mobile devices and thus make a more informed decision regarding the purchase of a fairer product, ceteris paribus. This ultimately channels money to smallholders who benefit most from their purchase and further advances fairer conditions in agricultural supply chains. This system offers two advantages over traditional certification schemes. Firstly, it does not necessitate the involvement of third parties, who are frequently unaccountable and non-transparent regarding the certification process (Ruml & Qaim, 2021) and capture a significant proportion of the price premium resulting from certification. Secondly, it allows for better comparability for consumers when deciding on which products to purchase. This results from the fact that they can compare metrics, such as the share of the price that smallholders receive, instead of relying on certifications for this purpose. This ultimately translates into improvements in the financial capital base of smallholder farmers ceteris paribus, as it would theoretically them to capture a greater share of the value generated throughout the supply chain, thus improving their financial capital base without jeopardizing other capital stocks pursuant to the SLF.

4.2.4. Potential for yield optimization

The AgriUT ecosystem is a data-driven agriculture application in that it employs digital technology to collect data, which is then utilized to create more favorable economic conditions for smallholder farmers through enhanced transparency. The type of information recorded on the underlying blockchain primarily concerns economic exchanges along the supply chain and generates value for consumers, as it enables them to align their willingness to pay for goods produced by smallholders with their own normative preferences. In this context, smallholders act as data generators and are remunerated either directly, through donations, or indirectly, through capturing a higher share of the price paid by consumers, for their role as data generators. Nevertheless, the AgriUT ecosystem does not collect significant information pertaining to physical, chemical and climatic factors, which are crucial inputs for predictive yield optimization (Sakthi et al., 2023) models aimed at informing farmers about the most appropriate crops, methods of cultivation, and planting schedules. This type of planning is contingent upon other types of information that have a direct impact on the fields and not on the different stages of the value chain. Consequently, this application provides limited valuable information for smallholder farmers to optimize farm output along the lines of semi-automated decision-making.

4.2.5. Impact on smallholders' livelihoods

The AgriUT ecosystem has a positive impact on the livelihoods of farmers, primarily by improving their financial capital base. Firstly, the system allows ethically concerned and environmentally friendly

consumers to purchase agricultural goods, thereby enabling them to be reassured that a substantial share of the price premium paid for fair supply chain practices reaches the smallholder farmer behind the product and is not captured by intermediaries and/or certifiers (AgriUT, 2021). Secondly, the system allows consumers to hold intermediaries accountable by providing reliable information about how much of the price premium paid for fair supply chain practices is reaching smallholder farmers. This allows consumers to make informed choices and to advocate for fairer practices in the agricultural supply chain. Furthermore, the platform allows consumers to make direct donations to smallholders, providing immediate economic relief. However, the long-term effects of these donations remain subject to academic discussion (Pinho, 2014).

Moreover, the platform's capacity to facilitate information exchange between consumers and smallholders has the potential to enhance the social capital base of smallholders. This is because it generates new horizontal linkages between them, which could indirectly lead to greater consumer awareness of the challenges smallholders face and, consequently, to more political pressure to address them. It is noteworthy that the technological design of the ecosystem addresses structural issues hindering the adoption of data-driven agriculture applications, such as low connectivity. The blockchain infrastructure is designed in a way that connectivity requirements for smallholder farmers willing to participate in the ecosystem are low, thus enabling more smallholders to become part of the ecosystem (AgriUT, 2021). This application does not appear to have other significant effects, either positive or negative, on the other stocks of capital smallholders need to have a sustainable livelihood.

4.3. Agrikore

Agrikore is a blockchain-based digital decentralized marketplace developed by Cellulant, a Nigerian mobile payments service provider, with the objective of digitalizing the interactions of various actors along agricultural supply chains. The objective of Agrikore is to provide a digital payment platform that facilitates transactions between various actors along the agricultural supply chain. These include smallholders, transporters, community aggregators, processors, traders, retailers, financial institutions, and de-risking agencies (Mastercard, 2022). The platform facilitates the creation of a comprehensive record of the different monetary transactions between various stages of the supply chain, thereby enabling a more transparent and efficient flow of goods. Furthermore, it facilitates the integration of smallholder farmers into the financial system through the issuance of digital money that is easily convertible to fiat money in rural areas (Quayson et al., 2021). This digital platform enables all actors within the agricultural supply chain to establish a digital identity through a blockchain-based wallet scheme. It records the full range of transactions between these parties, and the resulting data

is publicly available to all stakeholders. Consequently, it provides a comprehensive overview of the value chain, allowing existing processes, such as direct sales from smallholder farmers to aggregators or processors, to be identified and explored. Additionally, it facilitates new direct interactions with other actors, including banks and insurance companies. The platform provides a means of facilitating the provision of financing opportunities to smallholders who would otherwise be unable to access such resources (Quayson et al., 2021). This is achieved by recording revenue streams generated by smallholders, which in turn allows financial institutions to model financial risk more accurately. The wallet scheme allows for the structuring of credits and payouts for smallholders without the requirement of a bank account (Arthur et al., 2024), as payouts can be handled in digital currency and delivered to the digital wallets of smallholders.

4.3.1. Hybrid functionalities of Agrikore

Blockchain technology serves as the technical foundation of Agrikore. In this context, the technology serves two primary functions: as an immutable record of the provenance of agricultural commodities and as an interface for different actors to structure agreements and automatically execute them through the usage of smart contracts (Kumarathunga et al., 2022). Moreover, the digital identity scheme through wallets is a function of the cryptographic properties of the technology and ultimately serves to facilitate the generation of new cooperation modes throughout the supply chain. This is achieved through the reliable identification of the different actors participating in the ecosystem. The blockchain records information regarding the inputs, practices, output, and stages of the value chain that agricultural commodities undergo before reaching the final retailer. This record-keeping functionality is simultaneously critical for enabling a digital currency for digital payments. The usage of blockchain technology for recording transactions effectively overcomes the double spending problem, a precondition for establishing a reliable digital currency, where the issuer cannot default on the actors involved in the ecosystem. This, in conjunction with the blockchain-enabled capability to regulate interactions via smart contracts (Kumarathunga et al., 2022), opens the possibility for smallholder farmers to engage in modes of cooperation with other actors in the supply chain, such as financing agreements, that would otherwise not be possible without the deployment of blockchain technology. Consequently, both robust network and record-keeping functionalities are present within the Agrikore ecosystem.

4.3.2. Effects on transaction costs

There are several mechanisms by which the Agrikore platform reduces transaction costs for smallholder farmers (Quayson et al., 2021). Traditionally, farmers in structurally disadvantaged areas have to find buyers for their produce in order to sell it to the market. This results in a number of

transaction costs, such as travel costs (Kyaw et al., 2018), search and negotiation costs (Haile et al., 2022), and contracting costs, which generally lead to market failure in agricultural supply chains. These types of cost are disproportionately high for smallholder farmers in rural and structurally disadvantaged regions of the Global South due to a persistent lack of infrastructure and long distances between potential contracting parties (de Brauw & Bulte, 2021). One of the problems that the Agrikore platform solves is connecting smallholder farmers with potential buyers by integrating them into a digital network of different actors in the supply chain in a way that is more time efficient and less costly for smallholders (Andeme Bikoro, 2022), instead of having to travel long distances to negotiate prices for their produce. The platform provides all stakeholders with an overview of potential contract partners and allows smallholders to connect with potential buyers without having to leave their farms. This is a dramatic change from the status quo, allowing smallholders to reach more potential buyers, compare a wider range of terms and conditions for selling their produce, and choose the best buyer for their produce. In addition, other types of transaction costs associated with default risk and contract execution costs (Cuevas, 2014) are significantly reduced because interactions between parties on the platform are moderated via smart contracts. Because smart contracts are self-executing pieces of code that trigger a transaction on the blockchain once a set of pre-agreed conditions are met, smallholder farmers can be assured that they will not be shortchanged when they ship their produce to a seller, and sellers can be assured that they will receive the agricultural products under the terms agreed upon by both parties. Accordingly, this type of blockchain-enabled interaction not only reduces traditional transaction costs, but also increases trust between smallholders and other supply chain stakeholders, which could lead to a greater willingness of potential buyers to purchase agricultural commodities from smallholders. In addition to significant reductions within the supply chain, the Agrikore platform facilitates greater access to public or private financing opportunities (Yang et al., 2021). The platform provides smallholder farmers with a digital wallet that can be used to send and receive payments in a digital currency that is exchangeable one-to-one with fiat currency, which can be used to enter into microfinance contracts and receive government subsidies and development aid (Yang et al., 2021). This represents an improvement in the livelihoods of farmers, as one of the most pressing issues in the pursuit of sustainable development is to improve access to finance for smallholder farmers (Acclassato Houensou et al., 2021).

4.3.3. Effects on supply chain traceability

The Agrikore system effectively records all transactions that take place within the ecosystem, while collecting information on the origin and conditions under which the agricultural commodities were produced and exchanged. In a manner analogous to the AgriUT system, the platform could potentially be used for consumers to track all stages of the value creation of agricultural commodities across the

entire value chain (Arthur et al., 2024). This is because all transactions related to these processes are recorded on the underlying blockchain and are accessible to interested parties. Despite the fact that relevant information for the traceability of agricultural commodities is recorded on the platform, the realization of this potential remains unrealized due to two factors. Firstly, there are no user-friendly interfaces that allow relatively effortless access, so traceability for the ordinary consumer is limited. Secondly, supply chains are very complex and often span multiple countries and currency areas. This limits the platform's ability to enable supply chain traceability, as transactions that take place outside the platform are not captured by Agrikore. Overall, Agrikore is a blockchain-based interface that enables transactions between actors in agricultural supply chains and captures information that can potentially be used to improve the traceability of products. However, specific interfaces still need to be developed to realize this potential and improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers by providing them with access to markets with better prices.

4.3.4. Potential for yield optimization

The type of information recorded in the underlying blockchain primarily concerns economic exchanges along the supply chain, thereby creating added value for smallholder farmers. This is achieved by facilitating the search for new business partners to bring their products to market. Nevertheless, this type of information is only applicable to a limited extent in terms of yield optimization, as the data required to utilize predictive models to assist farmers in optimizing cultivation practices is not collected. Nevertheless, the platform's intermediation function towards potential financiers facilitates financing opportunities for smallholder farmers. This is crucial for enhancing agricultural productivity (Basu, 2006), as it could facilitate the modernization of farming practices, provide access to training, and offer contingency planning opportunities, such as access to insurance opportunities, to smallholder farmers.

4.3.5. Impact on smallholders' livelihoods

Agrikore has a positive impact on the livelihoods of smallholder farmers by reducing transaction costs in the agricultural supply chain through two main mechanisms. Firstly, it reduces the transaction costs associated with certain interactions between the various stages of value creation within the supply chain, such as price discovery, contract enforcement and information costs (Cuevas, 2014). This is achieved by establishing a network of supply chain actors in which the actors involved become visible to each other. Secondly, it facilitates access to finance, which is considered a prerequisite for traditional economic development in smallholder communities (Basu, 2006). This is achieved by reducing the cost for smallholder farmers to access the financial system. These two factors lead to an improvement in the financial capital base of smallholders without, in all other respects, preventing them from accessing other capital stocks. This, in turn, has the effect of improving the livelihoods of smallholders. Furthermore, the platform facilitates the expansion of smallholders' social capital base, which encompasses their vertical and horizontal relationships with other actors based on trust and reciprocity. This is due to the fact that the platform increases the number of potential actors with whom smallholders can interact. Concurrently, the utilization of smart contracts serves to reinforce trust within the Agrikore ecosystem.

4.4. Findings

Overall, the various case studies show that the integration of blockchain technology into data-driven agricultural applications has the potential to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, either by creating mechanisms that incentivize fairer commercial exchange terms for smallholder farmers along the supply chain, or by reducing transaction costs such that a change in agricultural practice becomes economically viable, ultimately leading to higher productivity for smallholder farmers. Interestingly, the integration of blockchain elements into the various applications does not appear to have a significant impact on yield optimization planning. However, blockchain elements do appear to enable more efficient planning opportunities, but not in a way that leverages digital technology for smallholder farmers to know what they are growing, how they are growing it, and when they are growing it. A summary of the key findings is presented in Table 3.

The analysis shows that by capturing all relevant transactions and transfer prices, transparency about the economic conditions under which transactions take place between smallholder farmers and their buyers is increased. This has the potential to address equity issues where a lion's share of value creation in global agricultural supply chains is captured by intermediaries. Comparing the AgriUT case with the Agrikore case, it is clear that the development of user-friendly interfaces for consumers to effortlessly access the information stored on the blockchain is a critical factor in enabling consumer pressure for smallholder farmers to capture a greater share of the value generated throughout the supply chain. In addition, the Hello Tractor case demonstrates that smallholder farmers can only reap the benefits of blockchain-enabled supply chain traceability to the extent that information about all stages of value creation is captured and stored by the underlying infrastructure.

Interestingly, all cases show that the integration of blockchain technology into data-driven agriculture, regardless of whether a dominant network functionality is present, leads to reductions in transaction costs that can be critical for smallholder farmers to access markets. These types of cost reductions can be achieved either by focusing on a single stage of the value chain, such as plowing in the case of Hello

Tractor, or by attempting to encompass the entire value chain and enable new forms of collaboration between stakeholders. Although blockchain has the potential to reconfigure the way stakeholders work together, simply replicating these relationships on a digital platform allows for a relevant reduction in transaction costs from a smallholder perspective, as discovering potential business partners becomes much cheaper for smallholder farmers. This, combined with the facilitation of new forms of collaboration, appears to be conducive to increasing the financial capital base of smallholder farmers. In addition, the use of other elements of blockchain technology, such as smart contracts to govern potential interactions between stakeholders and digital identity management through digital wallet systems, appears to reinforce this effect.

All of the case studies analyzed fail to deliver on the promise of providing platforms for farmers to optimize yields through predictive modeling and automated decision making. This is because the applications in question do not capture relevant information about the physical conditions that enable this type of decision making in the first place. Nevertheless, marginal efficiency gains in terms of traditional planning can be observed in some of the applications, simply because the platforms provide smallholders with information that allows them to plan their activities in the first place, either through scheduling, more transparent discovery of potential business partners, or access to finance. It appears that for blockchain-enabled data-driven agricultural applications to deliver on the promise of yield optimization, they must be designed to capture all stages of the value chain. Overall, the two cases that aim to cover the entire supply chain could benefit from collecting more information on the deterministic factors that enable data-driven decision making for smallholder farmers in the first place.

The impact on smallholder livelihoods resulting from the adoption of data-driven agricultural applications in their farming practices appears to have a positive impact on smallholder livelihoods along two dimensions. First, the applications improve the financial situation of smallholder farmers, which, given that smallholder farmers are arguably the most vulnerable actors in global agricultural supply chains, seems to be an essential step towards achieving sustainable development among smallholder farmers. Second, the observed reduction in transaction costs seems to have a positive impact on improving the social capital base among smallholder farmers. After all, the technology enables new forms of cooperation that smallholders can trust due to its technological design and enhances trust in existing linkages with other actors through the inclusion of blockchain-based elements such as smart contracts and digital wallets.

Table 3: Overview of the main findings of the case study analysis.

Type of	Case study	Effects on	Effects on data-	Effects on	Potential
blockchain		supply chain	driven yield	transaction	impact of
functionality		traceability	optimization	costs	smallholders'
		-			livelihoods
Dominant	Hello	The system is	Does not	Platform	Results in
network	Tractor	constrained to a	capture the	radically	significant
functionality		single stage of	information	reduces	improvements
		value	needed to	transaction	in the financial
		generation	enable data-	costs, making it	capital base of
		(plowing),	driven yield	possible to	smallholders
		which precludes	optimization	change farming	
		the ability to	approaches	practices	Results in
		provide end-to-			marginal
		end supply	However, the	Further	improvements
		chain	platform	reduction of	in the social
		traceability.	provides classic	transaction	capital base by
			planning	costs could be	enabling new
			capabilities for	achieved	forms of
			mechanized	through	cooperation,
			plowing, such as	complementary	where trust
			scheduling,	policies such as	and reciprocity
			which could	increasing	is enabled by
			lead to marginal	connectivity in	the system.
	A 11/T		efficiency gains.	rural areas.	D <i>U</i> :
Dominant	AgriUl	Information	The information	The impact on	Results in an
functionality		about origin		transaction	Improvement
functionality		ana transfer	ecosystem is	costs jor	of the financial
		prices between	relevant to	smannoiders is	capital base,
		actors in the	planning in that	the application	as the
		supply chull is	sinuinoiders	merely	piutjoini anghlas
		in the	identify better	replicates	consumers to
		ecosystem	huvers	evisting supply	evert pressure
		allowing	buyers.	chain	for fairer
		consumers to	However	relationshins	commercial
		nurchase anods	improvements	rather than	conditions for
		that have been	in planning are	reconfiguring	smallholders.
		exchanaed	reduced to a	the way	
		under fair	commercial	stakeholders	Marginal
		conditions.	dimension	interact.	effects on
			unless		social capital
		User interface	information	Effective	can be
		appears to be a	about field	reductions in	expected, but
		critical factor in	conditions is	transaction	it remains
		enabling	operationalized.	costs are	questionable
		traceability, as		limited to	whether these
		it is		donation	are conducive
		transparency		schemes, and it	to real
		for the		remains	improvements
		consumer that		questionable to	in the long
		enables		what extent	run.
				such schemes	

		structural		can achieve	
		chanae		sustainable	
				development in	
				the long term.	
Hybrid	Agrikore	Due to	The information	The Aarikore	Improves the
network and	, ignition e	Cellulant's	collected in this	ecosystem	financial
ledger		leaacy as a	ecosystem is	leads to a	canital base of
functionalities		mohile navment	relevant to	significant	smallholder
runctionalities		sorvico	nlanning in that	reduction in	farmors by
		servider the	piuning in thut	transaction	juiners by
		provider, the	smailnoiders		enabling them
		scope of record	can more easily	costs, both in	to sell their
		keeping is	identify better	terms of	produce on the
		limited to	buyers.	existing supply	market
		payments		chain	instead of
		within the	However,	relationships	relying on
		supply chain,	improvements	and access to	subsistence
		thus creating	in planning are	finance.	farming.
		transparency	reduced to a		
		into the	commercial	Moderation of	Improves the
		business	dimension, as	supply chain	financial
		conditions	information on	interactions	capital base of
		faced by	field conditions	through smart	smallholders
		smallholders.	is not	contracts	by providing
			operationalized.	increases trust	access to
		Lack of	,	and reciprocity	finance
		interfaces for	Marainal aains	between	,
		consumers to	in terms of	stakeholders.	Improves the
		easily access	better, but not		social capital
		the recorded	data-driven.		base of
		information	nlannina are		smallholders
		limits the	achieved		hy creating
		impact of	through access		new
		creating supply	to finance		relationshins
		chain			of trust
		transparancy			botwoon
		from			Jelween
		jrom a			aijferent
		smailholder			supply chain
		perspective.			stakeholders.

5. Discussion

The objective of this study is to examine the potential of blockchain technology in the context of datadriven agriculture to enhance the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. To this end, this study first identified two common functionalities of blockchain technology in data-driven agriculture applications and three different factors that need to be improved in order to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. It also identified relevant case studies where blockchain technology has been integrated into data-driven applications for the benefit of smallholder farmers. These were analyzed to examine how the identified functionalities of blockchain technology lead to improvements in transaction costs, supply chain traceability, and yield optimization opportunities, the three relevant factors that the literature argues need to be addressed in order to improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers were also considered.

Upon examination of the research question posed by this study, the case studies analyzed demonstrate that one of the most pressing issues that the integration of blockchain technology addresses in the context of data-driven agriculture is the high transaction costs associated with global agricultural supply chains. This is significant because a substantial proportion of smallholders do not sell their produce to the market, primarily because the cost of doing so is higher than the utility they would receive from doing so (Cuevas, 2014). This is important for the improvement of the livelihoods of smallholders, as improving their capacity to sell their produce to efficient markets is expected to result in an improvement of their income (Alobo Loison, 2015). Moreover, it seems that the integration of blockchain technology results in reductions of transaction costs for smallholders, regardless of whether the network functionality of the application in question is dominant and of whether the blockchain infrastructure captures information about a single or more stages of value generation across the supply chain. Consequently, the implementation of blockchain technology to digitally connect networks of supply appears to be a relatively straightforward method for enhancing smallholders' access to agricultural commodity markets, without necessarily accounting for the complexity of the entire supply chain. Upon examination of the matter of traceability throughout the supply chain, it appears that the potential effects of integrating blockchain technology into data-driven agricultural applications is more limited. Establishing a system where all transactions within the supply chain take place on a common platform provides consumers with a means to assess whether an agricultural commodity has been exchanged under fair commercial conditions. This allows ethically conscious consumers to avoid purchasing products that are highly intermediated, thereby exerting consumer pressure on intermediaries that engage in predatory commercial practices, or at least enabling higher prices for the products of fair smallholder agriculture. (Sammer & Wüstenhagen, 2006). However, the case studies analyzed did not design their data collection in a manner that would enable consumers to ascertain the agricultural inputs used to grow the commodities traded over the platforms. Integrating such information about the provenance and the local conditions under which agricultural products are grown remains an unsolved issue. Solving this could potentially result in even higher income levels among smallholders, as it would enable transparency and allow them to address a market segment of consumers willing to pay a higher price for their produce (Kremen et al., 2007). It is notable that applications designed to enhance product traceability must consider the entirety of the supply chain, which renders their implementation more challenging than that of data-driven applications aimed at modifying individual stages of value generation. Consequently, enhancing traceability across supply chains appears to be a more intricate issue than merely reducing transaction costs, which is in line with best practice for enabling product traceability through the implementation of blockchain technology (Yang et al., 2023). The integration of blockchain technology into data-driven agricultural applications to enable yield optimization through the deployment of predictive models appears to present the most significant challenge to overcome. The results of the case studies analyzed do not indicate any significant improvements in this field. To achieve this objective, it is necessary to utilize the blockchain in a manner that enables the collection and operationalization of all relevant data, including real-world information about the physical conditions on the fields (Sakthi et al., 2023). This data can then be utilized to facilitate data-driven yield optimization, which is not evident in any of the case studies analyzed. This represents a valuable consideration for developers of data-driven agriculture applications, as it enables the implementation of this farming practice for smallholder farmers. The current focus of both AgriUT and Agrikore is on economic aspects of the supply chain, rather than on the collection of real-world information, such as physical factors, that are necessary for assisting smallholders in optimizing their yields (Sakthi et al., 2023). In order for such applications to assist smallholders in their pursuit of better yields, a radical shift in information collection is required.

To ascertain the most effective manner in which blockchain technology can be deployed in the context of data-driven agricultural applications to the advantage of smallholder farmers, it is first necessary to define whether the application in question is designed to address individual stages of value generation within the supply chain, or whether it aims to capture the entire supply chain. For the former, it appears that the establishment of networks of stakeholders with the objective of reducing transaction costs for smallholders represents a relatively straightforward and effective means of improving their livelihoods. The cases demonstrate that this effect can be maximized by concurrently leveraging other aspects of blockchain technology, such as identity management schemes (Subramaniyan & Prabhu, 2023) and smart contracts (Feng et al., 2019), which further reinforce trust and potentially enable interactions with new stakeholders. This ultimately results in improvements regarding both the financial and social capital base of smallholder farmers. For the latter, simply reconfiguring how supply chain stakeholders interact with each other, with the sole objective of reducing transaction costs, appears to leave unrealized some attributes of blockchain technology that are conducive to the improvement of the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. For such applications, it is necessary to consider improvements in product traceability. Moreover, to achieve optimal supply chain traceability, it is essential to integrate not only commercial conditions but also information regarding agricultural practices and physical field conditions into the system (Yang et al., 2023). This integration would maximize the benefits of enhanced produce traceability for smallholder farmers in contexts comparable to the ones analyzed and would allow consumers to discover new information about the provenance of the products they consume stretching beyond the commercial transactions smallholder farmers engage in, thus potentially increasing income for smallholder farmers (Sammer & Wüstenhagen, 2006).

The application of predictive models and automated decision-making techniques has the potential to enhance the livelihoods of smallholders by improving their income and optimizing their utilization of resources (Ndimbo et al., 2023). This potential, however, appears to remain unrealized due to a lack of information collection regarding the physical conditions on the fields, which are crucial for enabling this mode of agricultural production (Yang et al., 2023). It is recommended that future research be directed towards this issue, particularly as optimizing yield through digital technology is the promise data-driven agriculture is praised to be conducive to and integrating smallholders into superior modes of agricultural production is in line with improving their livelihoods.

The results of this study may be subject to some degree of selection bias due to the sheer size of the overall pool of available case studies. Consequently, the case studies analyzed may not be representative of the way blockchain is integrated into data-driven agriculture applications, thereby reducing the generalizability of the obtained results. Nevertheless, the specific issues addressed by the case studies are reflective of the realities of smallholder farmers in specific contexts. Moreover, the income levels of farmers in each specific case appear to have benefited from the introduction of the analyzed applications, resulting in improvements of their livelihoods. These improvements were largely due to an increase in their financial capital base. By comparing the different functionalities blockchain technology enables against established mechanisms for improving the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, it is possible to construct a useful framework for assessing how the technology has the potential to improve the livelihoods of its users. This study assumes that structural conditions allowing for the adoption of technological solutions are given. However, in reality, structural issues such as limited mobile network coverage in rural areas (Mapiye et al., 2023), low digital literacy in smallholder communities (Magesa et al., 2023), low levels of trust towards outside actors (Ruml & Qaim, 2021), or particular socio-cultural practices might effectively hinder the adoption of new technological solutions. Accordingly, it is recommended that further research is directed to this issue

to maximize the impact of digital applications in enabling smallholder farmers to transition towards more data-driven agricultural practices.

Methodologically, the proposed framework proved useful in addressing the research question. However, the differentiation between the various functionalities of blockchain technology in the context of data-driven agriculture proved to be inadequate during the course of the analysis. In fact, other features enabled by blockchain technology, such as automated enforcement of agreements through smart contracts or digital identity management through digital wallets, appear to be relevant for designing solutions aimed at enabling data-driven agriculture through the implementation of blockchain technology in a way that is beneficial for smallholder farmers. It is recommended that for future research that a more granular distinction of the functionalities enabled by blockchain technology be operationalized so that the impact of these features on the livelihoods of smallholder farmers can be more fully understood. It is recommended that when comparing the functionalities a given technological artifact enables against other dimensions, a more categorical differentiation of the analyzed functionalities is undertaken. Furthermore, future research should examine the potential for further improvements to the livelihoods of smallholder farmers, beyond increasing their financial capital stock. Other factors should be considered, as a more holistic approach (Mazibuko, 2013) to assess the extent to which blockchain technology could be leveraged for the purpose of sustainable development may yield more fruitful results. Nonetheless, this study manages to deliver insights that are in line with the literature insofar as systems leveraging the attributes of blockchain technology generally result in reductions of transaction costs, and thus disintermediation (Schmidt & Wagner, 2019). Furthermore, the results are in line with the literature in that enabling transparent recordkeeping of the interactions taking place in a given ecosystem through distributed ledger technology results in better traceability of the interactions taking place in that system (Sunny et al., 2020).

This study demonstrates that the analyzed applications fail to fulfill the promise of data-driven yield optimization due to a lack of capture of relevant information for this purpose. Consequently, it is recommended that future research address the issue of what relevant data should be collected and how it should be operationalized to enable yield optimization through predictive models for smallholder farmers (Sakthi et al., 2023). To further examine this issue, it is recommended that researchers adopt a perspective that includes the role of blockchain technology in data-driven agriculture, as well as how it interacts with other technologies that the literature establishes as critical to enable data-driven yield optimization practices among smallholder farmers.

6. References

- Acclassato Houensou, D., Goudjo, G. G., & Senou, M. M. (2021). Access to finance and difference in family farm productivity in Benin: Evidence from small farms. *Scientific African*, *13*, e00940. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2021.e00940</u>
- Achoja, R. O., & Aliber, M. (2021). Factors Influencing Smallholder Farmers Mechanization Decisions in Nigeria: The Case of Tractor Use in the Fourth Industrial Revolution ERA. *Asian Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development*, *11*(2), 199.
- AgriUT. (2021). AgriUT whitepaper. In AgriUT (Ed.).
- Al-Breiki, H., Rehman, M. H. U., Salah, K., & Svetinovic, D. (2020). Trustworthy Blockchain Oracles: Review, Comparison, and Open Research Challenges. *IEEE Access*, *8*, 85675-85685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2992698</u>
- Alobo Loison, S. (2015). Rural Livelihood Diversification in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Literature Review. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *51*(9), 1125-1138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2015.1046445</u>
- Andeme Bikoro, D. M. (2022). Towards a Blockchain-Based Smart Farm Agricultural Revolution in Sub-Saharan Africa. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 55(10), 299-304. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2022.09.404</u>
- Anidi, O., Mayienga, S., & Mpagalile, J. (2020). Use of information and communications technology tools for tractor hire services in Africa.
- Arthur, K. K., Bannor, R. K., Masih, J., Oppong-Kyeremeh, H., & Appiahene, P. (2024). Digital Innovations: Implications for African Agribusinesses. *Smart Agricultural Technology*, 100407.
- Atidegla, C. S., Sintondji, L. O., Hounkpe, J., & Kpadonou, E. (2017). Effets Du Labour Mécanisé Successif Sur Le Statut Nutritif Du Sol Et Le Rendement Du Riz Pluvial Dans La Commune d'Abomey Calavi (Sud Bénin). *European Scientific Journal, ESJ, 13*(30). https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2017.v13n30p341
- Atlam, H. F., Azad, M. A., Alzahrani, A. G., & Wills, G. (2020). A Review of Blockchain in Internet of Things and AI. *Big Data and Cognitive Computing*, 4(4), 28. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2504-2289/4/4/28</u>
- Babu, S., & Devarajan, H. (2023). Agro-Food Supply Chain Traceability using Blockchain and IPFS. International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications, 14(1).
- Bagheramiri, Z., & Keshvarz Shaal, F. (2020). Smallholder Farmers' Role in Sustainable Development.
 In W. Leal Filho, A. M. Azul, L. Brandli, P. G. Özuyar, & T. Wall (Eds.), *Zero Hunger* (pp. 775-786). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95675-6
- Balcerzak, A. P., Nica, E., Rogalska, E., Poliak, M., Klieštik, T., & Sabie, O.-M. (2022). Blockchain Technology and Smart Contracts in Decentralized Governance Systems. Administrative Sciences, 12(3), 96. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3387/12/3/96</u>
- Barr, A., Fafchamps, M., & Owens, T. (2005). The governance of non-governmental organizations in Uganda. World Development, 33(4), 657-679. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2004.09.010</u>
- Basu, P. (2006). *Improving access to finance for India's rural poor*. World Bank Publications.
- Bhat, S. A., Huang, N.-F., Sofi, I. B., & Sultan, M. (2022). Agriculture-Food Supply Chain Management Based on Blockchain and IoT: A Narrative on Enterprise Blockchain Interoperability. *Agriculture*, 12(1), 40. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0472/12/1/40</u>
- Bhatia, M. S., Chaudhuri, A., Kayikci, Y., & Treiblmaier, H. (2023). Implementation of blockchainenabled supply chain finance solutions in the agricultural commodity supply chain: a transaction cost economics perspective. *Production Planning & Control*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2023.2180685

Bocek, T., & Stiller, B. (2018). Smart Contracts – Blockchains in the Wings. In C. Linnhoff-Popien, R. Schneider, & M. Zaddach (Eds.), *Digital Marketplaces Unleashed* (pp. 169-184). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-49275-8_19</u>

Camerinelli, E. (2009). Supply chain finance. *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*, *3*(2), 114-128.

- Chona, J. S. R. (2021, 28-31 Oct. 2021). Entrepreneurship with a design for social justice mindset: A case for Hello Tractor. 2021 IEEE International Symposium on Technology and Society (ISTAS),
- CLabs. (n.d.). The Celo Protocol: A Multi-Asset Cryptographic Protocol for Decentralized Social Payments. In CLabs (Ed.).
- Cline, T., & Emmanuel, M. (2019). DIGITAL AGRICULTURE
- Making the most of machine learning on farm. *Spore*(195), 18-22. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27221017
- Cohn, A. S., Newton, P., Gil, J. D. B., Kuhl, L., Samberg, L., Ricciardi, V., Manly, J. R., & Northrop, S. (2017). Smallholder Agriculture and Climate Change. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *42*(1), 347-375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102016-060946</u>
- Cuevas, A. C. (2014). Transaction costs of exchange in agriculture: A survey. Asian Journal of Agriculture and Development, 11(1), 21-38.
- Daum, T., & Birner, R. (2020). Agricultural mechanization in Africa: Myths, realities and an emerging research agenda. *Global Food Security*, 26, 100393. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100393</u>
- Daum, T., Villalba, R., Anidi, O., Mayienga, S. M., Gupta, S., & Birner, R. (2021). Uber for tractors?
 Opportunities and challenges of digital tools for tractor hire in India and Nigeria. *World Development*, 144, 105480. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105480</u>
- de Brauw, A., & Bulte, E. (2021). African Smallholders and Their Market Environment. In A. de Brauw
 & E. Bulte (Eds.), African Farmers, Value Chains and Agricultural Development: An Economic and Institutional Perspective (pp. 1-19). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88693-6
- de Janvry, A., Fafchamps, M., & Sadoulet, E. (1991). Peasant Household Behaviour with Missing Markets: Some Paradoxes Explained. *The Economic Journal*, *101*(409), 1400-1417. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2234892</u>
- De Silva, H., & Ratnadiwakara, D. (2008). Using ICT to Reduce Transaction Costs in Agriculture through Better Communication: A Case Study from Sri Lanka.
- Dragusanu, R., Giovannucci, D., & Nunn, N. (2014). The Economics of Fair Trade. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(3), 217–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.28.3.217</u>
- Du, M., Chen, Q., Xiao, J., Yang, H., & Ma, X. (2020). Supply Chain Finance Innovation Using Blockchain. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, 67(4), 1045-1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2020.2971858</u>
- Elizondo, D., Mordt, M., & Muñoz-Blanco, J. (2017). Application of the Sustainable Livelihoods Framework in Development Projects. *United Nations Development Program*.
- Feng, T., Yu, X., Chai, Y., & Liu, Y. (2019). Smart contract model for complex reality transaction. International Journal of Crowd Science, 3(2), 184-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCS-03-2019-0010</u>
- Ferris, L., & Rahman, Z. (2017). Responsible data in agriculture. *F1000Research*, 6(1306), 1306.
- Glasbergen, P. (2018). Smallholders do not Eat Certificates. *Ecological Economics*, 147, 243-252. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.01.023
- Haile, K., Gebre, E., & Workye, A. (2022). Determinants of market participation among smallholder farmers in Southwest Ethiopia: double-hurdle model approach. *Agriculture & Food Security*, 11(1), 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-022-00358-5</u>
- Harvey, C. A., Rakotobe, Z. L., Rao, N. S., Dave, R., Razafimahatratra, H., Rabarijohn, R. H., Rajaofara, H., & MacKinnon, J. L. (2014). Extreme vulnerability of smallholder farmers to agricultural risks and climate change in Madagascar. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *369*(1639), 20130089.

- Hofmann, F., Wurster, S., Ron, E., & Böhmecke-Schwafert, M. (2017). The immutability concept of blockchains and benefits of early standardization. 2017 ITU Kaleidoscope: Challenges for a Data-Driven Society (ITU K),
- IBM. (2018). *IBM Research and Hello Tractor Pilot Digital Wallet for Agriculture Based on AI and Blockchain* <u>https://mea.newsroom.ibm.com/2018-12-11-IBM-Research-and-Hello-Tractor-</u> <u>Pilot-Digital-Wallet-for-Agriculture-Based-on-AI-and-Blockchain</u>
- Kamara, A., Conteh, A., Rhodes, E. R., & Cooke, R. A. (2019). The relevance of smallholder farming to African agricultural growth and development. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development*, *19*(1), 14043-14065.
- Kamble, S. S., Gunasekaran, A., & Gawankar, S. A. (2020). Achieving sustainable performance in a data-driven agriculture supply chain: A review for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 219, 179-194. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.05.022
- Khan, S. N., Loukil, F., Ghedira-Guegan, C., Benkhelifa, E., & Bani-Hani, A. (2021). Blockchain smart contracts: Applications, challenges, and future trends. *Peer-to-Peer Networking and Applications*, 14(5), 2901-2925. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12083-021-01127-0</u>
- Khapre, S. P., Dhasarathan, C., T, P., & Goundar, S. (2021). Blockchain-Based Data Market (BCBDM) Framework for Security and Privacy: An Analysis. In S. Goundar & P. K. Rayani (Eds.), *Applications of Big Data in Large- and Small-Scale Systems* (pp. 186-205). IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6673-2.ch012</u>
- Kremen, A., Greene, C., & Hanson, J. (2007). Organic produce, price premiums, and eco-labeling in US farmers' markets. *Organic agriculture in the US*, *13*, 55-69.
- Kumarathunga, M., Calheiros, R. N., & Ginige, A. (2022). Smart agricultural futures market:
 Blockchain technology as a trust enabler between smallholder farmers and buyers.
 Sustainability, 14(5), 2916.
- Kyaw, N. N., Ahn, S., & Lee, S. H. (2018). Analysis of the Factors Influencing Market Participation among Smallholder Rice Farmers in Magway Region, Central Dry Zone of Myanmar. *Sustainability*, 10(12), 4441. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/10/12/4441</u>
- Leta, G., Stellmacher, T., Kelboro, G., Van Assche, K., & Hornidge, A.-K. (2018). Social learning in smallholder agriculture: the struggle against systemic inequalities. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, *30*(6), 469-487.
- Liao, D., Li, H., Wang, W., Wang, X., Zhang, M., & Chen, X. (2021). Achieving IoT data security based blockchain. *Peer-to-Peer Networking and Applications*, *14*(5), 2694-2707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12083-020-01042-w
- Magesa, M., Jonathan, J., & Urassa, J. (2023). Digital Literacy of Smallholder Farmers in Tanzania. *Sustainability*, 15(17), 13149. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/15/17/13149</u>
- Mapiye, O., Makombe, G., Molotsi, A., Dzama, K., & Mapiye, C. (2023). Information and communication technologies (ICTs): The potential for enhancing the dissemination of agricultural information and services to smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa. Information Development, 39(3), 638-658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02666669211064847</u>
- Maru, A., Berne, D., Beer, J. d., Ballantyne, P. G., Pesce, V., Kalyesubula, S., Fourie, N., Addison, C., Collett, A., & Chavez, J. (2018). Digital and data-driven agriculture: Harnessing the power of data for smallholders.
- Mastercard. (2022, 25.08.2022). Mastercard and Cellulant Partner to Empower Millions of Consumers across Africa to join the Global Digital Commerce Market <u>https://www.mastercard.com/news/eemea/en/newsroom/press-</u> <u>releases/en/2022/august/mastercard-and-cellulant-partner-to-empower-millions-of-</u> <u>consumers-across-africa-to-join-the-global-digital-commerce-market/</u>
- Mazibuko, S. (2013). Understanding underdevelopment through the sustainable livelihoods approach. *Community Development*, 44(2), 173-187.

- Mehrabi, Z., McDowell, M. J., Ricciardi, V., Levers, C., Martinez, J. D., Mehrabi, N., Wittman, H., Ramankutty, N., & Jarvis, A. (2021). The global divide in data-driven farming. *Nature Sustainability*, 4(2), 154-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00631-0</u>
- Menon, S., & Jain, K. (2024). Blockchain Technology for Transparency in Agri-Food Supply Chain: Use Cases, Limitations, and Future Directions. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 71, 106-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2021.3110903</u>
- Musshoff, O., & Hirschauer, N. (2008). Improved Program Planning Generates Large Benefits in High Risk Crop Farming–A Profitable Application of Time Series Models and Stochastic Optimization.
- Ndimbo, G. K., Yu, L., & Ndi Buma, A. A. (2023). ICTs, smallholder agriculture and farmers' livelihood improvement in developing countries: Evidence from Tanzania. *Information Development*, 0(0), 02666669231165272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02666669231165272</u>
- Niehans, J. (1969). Money in a Static Theory of Optimal Payment Arrangements. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 1(4), 706-726. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1991447</u>
- Noy, C. (2008). Sampling Knowledge: The Hermeneutics of Snowball Sampling in Qualitative Research. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 11(4), 327-344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570701401305</u>
- Nyambo, D. G., Luhanga, E. T., & Yonah, Z. Q. (2019). A review of characterization approaches for smallholder farmers: Towards predictive farm typologies. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2019(1), 6121467.
- Okano, J. T., Ponce, J., Krönke, M., & Blower, S. (2022). Lack of ownership of mobile phones could hinder the rollout of mHealth interventions in Africa. *eLife*, *11*, e79615. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.79615</u>
- Onomu, A. R., Aliber, M., & Agbugba, I. K. (2020). Tractor services challenges and current demand trends by smallholder farmers in Nigeria. *Journal of Agribusiness and Rural Development*, *58*(4), 379-391.
- Parmar, M., & Shah, P. (2020). Uplifting blockchain technology for data provenance in supply chain. International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology, 29, 5922-5938.
- Patelli, N., & Mandrioli, M. (2020). Blockchain technology and traceability in the agrifood industry. Journal of Food Science, 85(11), 3670-3678. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.15477</u>
- Pingali, P., Khwaja, Y., & Meijer, M. (2005). Commercializing small farms: Reducing transaction cost.
- Pinho, A. P. B. (2014). *Community philanthropy: the missing link between local communities and international development*. Center on Philanthropy and Civil Society at the Graduate Center of the City
- Qian, C., & Ding, L. (2024). Prescribed-Time Fully Distributed Nash Equilibrium Seeking Strategy in Networked Games. *IEEE/CAA Journal of Automatica Sinica*, *11*(1), 261-263.
- Quayson, M., Bai, C., & Sarkis, J. (2021). Technology for Social Good Foundations: A Perspective From the Smallholder Farmer in Sustainable Supply Chains. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, *68*(3), 894-898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2020.2996003</u>
- Raj, S., Roodbar, S., Brinkley, C., & Wolfe, D. W. (2022). Food Security and Climate Change: Differences in Impacts and Adaptation Strategies for Rural Communities in the Global South and North [Review]. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.691191
- Rambhia, V., Mehta, R., Shah, R., Mehta, V., & Patel, D. (2021). Agrichain: A blockchain-based food supply chain management system. International Conference on Blockchain,
- Rapsomanikis, G. (2015). Small Farms Big Picture: Smallholder agriculture and structural transformation. *Development*, *58*(2), 242-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41301-016-0028-y</u>
- Rauch, T., & Brüntrup, M. (2021). Approaches for supporting smallholders in the Global South: Contentious issues, experiences, syntheses.

Rehman, K. U., Andleeb, S., Ashfaq, M., Akram, N., & Akram, M. W. (2023). Blockchain-enabled smart agriculture: Enhancing data-driven decision making and ensuring food security. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 427, 138900.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.138900

- Ricciardi, V., Ramankutty, N., Mehrabi, Z., Jarvis, L., & Chookolingo, B. (2018). How much of the world's food do smallholders produce? *Global Food Security*, *17*, 64-72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2018.05.002
- Rozenstein, O., Cohen, Y., Alchanatis, V., Behrendt, K., Bonfil, D. J., Eshel, G., Harari, A., Harris, W. E., Klapp, I., Laor, Y., Linker, R., Paz-Kagan, T., Peets, S., Rutter, S. M., Salzer, Y., & Lowenberg-DeBoer, J. (2024). Data-driven agriculture and sustainable farming: friends or foes? *Precision Agriculture*, 25(1), 520-531. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1119-023-10061-5
- Ruml, A., & Qaim, M. (2021). Smallholder farmers' dissatisfaction with contract schemes in spite of economic benefits: Issues of mistrust and lack of transparency. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *57*(7), 1106-1119.
- Saberi, S., Kouhizadeh, M., Sarkis, J., & Shen, L. (2019). Blockchain technology and its relationships to sustainable supply chain management. *International Journal of Production Research*, 57(7), 2117-2135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1533261</u>
- Sakthi, U., Thangaraj, K., Anuradha, M., & Kirubakaran, M. (2023). Blockchain-Enabled Precision Agricultural System Using IoT and Edge Computing. International Conference on Smart Trends in Computing and Communications,
- Sammer, K., & Wüstenhagen, R. (2006). The influence of eco-labelling on consumer behaviour– Results of a discrete choice analysis for washing machines. *Business strategy and the environment*, 15(3), 185-199.
- Schmidt, C. G., & Wagner, S. M. (2019). Blockchain and supply chain relations: A transaction cost theory perspective. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, *25*(4), 100552. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2019.100552</u>
- Sharma, A., & Kaur, P. (2023). Tamper-proof multitenant data storage using blockchain. *Peer-to-Peer Networking and Applications*, *16*(1), 431-449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12083-022-01410-8</u>
- Shin, D. D. H. (2019). Blockchain: The emerging technology of digital trust. *Telematics and Informatics*, 45, 101278. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2019.101278</u>
- Subramaniyan, S. P., & Prabhu, S. (2023, 4-6 May 2023). The Impact of Adopting Blockchain-based Identity Access Management: Current Applications and Potential Directions. 2023 2nd International Conference on Applied Artificial Intelligence and Computing (ICAAIC),
- Sunny, J., Undralla, N., & Madhusudanan Pillai, V. (2020). Supply chain transparency through blockchain-based traceability: An overview with demonstration. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, *150*, 106895. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2020.106895</u>
- Tabar, M., Lee, D., Hughes, D. P., & Yadav, A. (2022). Mitigating Low Agricultural Productivity of Smallholder Farms in Africa: Time-Series Forecasting for Environmental Stressors. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 36(11), 12608-12614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1609/aaai.v36i11.21534</u>
- Taylor, K., & Amidy, M. (2020). Data-driven agriculture for rural smallholdings. *Journal of spatial information science*(20), 125-135.
- Terlau, W., Hirsch, D., & Blanke, M. (2019). Smallholder farmers as a backbone for the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals. *Sustainable Development*, 27(3), 523-529. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1907</u>
- Thatcher, J., O'Sullivan, D., & Mahmoudi, D. (2016). Data colonialism through accumulation by dispossession: New metaphors for daily data. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, *34*(6), 990-1006.
- Vanany, I., Andri, K. B., Mardiyanto, R., Puspita, N. F., & Winarsih, W. H. (2015). An electronic traceability system for an Indonesian fresh fruit supply chain. *IPTEK Journal of Proceedings Series*, 1(1).

- Varfolomeev, A. A., Alfarhani, L. H., & Oleiwi, Z. C. (2021). Secure-reliable smart contract applications based blockchain technology in smart cities environment. *Procedia Computer Science*, *186*, 669-676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021.04.188</u>
- Vicol, M., Fold, N., Pritchard, B., & Neilson, J. (2018). Global production networks, regional development trajectories and smallholder livelihoods in the Global South. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 19(4), 973-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lby065</u>
- Wu, K. (2019). An empirical study of blockchain-based decentralized applications. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1902.04969*.
- Xu, Y., Li, X., Zeng, X., Cao, J., & Jiang, W. (2022). Application of blockchain technology in food safety control : current trends and future prospects. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(10), 2800-2819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1858752</u>
- Yang, J., Wang, F., Guo, F., & Chen, D. (2023). Design and implementation of agricultural product traceability platform based on blockchain technology (Vol. 12702). SPIE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2680556</u>
- Yang, S., Tchewafei, A., Tchewafei, L., Sambiani, L., Tchewafei, A. B., & Kagembega, S.-H. W. (2021).
 Analyses of the Determinants of Access to Credit by Smallholder Farmers in Togo.
 Proceedings of the 2021 International Conference on E-business and Mobile Commerce,
- Zamani, E. D., & Giaglis, G. M. (2018). With a little help from the miners: distributed ledger technology and market disintermediation. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 118(3), 637-652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-05-2017-0231</u>

Appendix A: Overview of the initial case study selection

Name	Scope	Goods and/or Services Provided Raw climatic data for develpers of climatic forecast developers
	Recording and modelling of climate data to generate climatic	Climatic forecasts from climatic forecast developers using
	models that can be leveraged either by farmers, for enhanced planning, by insurence to better assess climatic risk, or by other actors relying on climatic predictions for their planning	Marketplace both for data exchange and for comparing climatic forecasts
arbol	other actors regarger cannot presectors for their planning	
		Creation of records about the "last mile" of agricultural smallholder production
	Provision of information about the last mile to consumers while allowing consumers to directly "tip" smallholders for sustainable farming practice	Sale of low-cost smarphones serving as data sensors for the creation of records (Through AgriUnity - parent company)
AgriUT		
Trace (EnirEcord)	Provision of SAS for first mile tracking for distributors of food products	Whitelabel Interface (comissioned by a distributor) between consumers and producers to track the supply chain of aggricultural goods
nace (railrood)		Whitelabel Interface (comissioned by a distributor) between
	Provision of SAS for end-to-end tracking for distributors of	consumers and producers to track the supply chain of aggricultural goods
bext360	food products	Additionally environmental and social issues such as labor conditions are included in the data collected
Movee Cofee (Knmc)	Provision of end-to-end information about the different value stages of coffee in addition of carbon footprint assessments at each stage	End-to-end information about coffe (origin, roasteries, packing and logistics)
hojee once (wype)		Immutable registry of all transactions farm-to-fork
		Price discovery by quality of the beans produced through Al powered engines
		Training programs are offered to smallholders
FairChain Farming	Creating producer surplus for smallholders in the coffee market through multiv differentiation	Force smallholders to establish commercial relationships to entities "controlled by them" at higher stages of value generation
	······································	Platform for matchmaking between smallholders and tractor
		owners Recordkeeping of the usage of tractors for mechanization service providers to onlimize offering and enable a nav-per-
	Matchmaking between smallholders and mechanization service providers, for the rental of tractors in a pay-per-use model	use model Facilitation of payments between stages of value generation
Hello Tractor		through stablecoins
		Whitelabel Interface (comissioned by a distributor) betweer consumers and producers to track the supply chain of goods.
	Provision of SAS for end-to-end tracking for distributors of	Sustainability measures for brands and consumers to assess
Provenance	food products with a focus on sustainability measures	the sustainability impact of all stages of value generation
		Providing farmers recommendations for planning based on Al generated climate models
	Improving farmers credit score both by providing them with best practice advice and recording the degree of attainment	Generation and recording of Farmers' credit scores based or the degree they engage in best practice
Open Harvest (Heifer Labs)	to these advices in Malawi	Intermediation with banks for accessing credit
		Marketplace for interactions with different actors across the value chain
Agrichain	usintermediation of traditional supply chains through the usage of a digital platform	Tools for inventory management
. g. terterin		Marketplace for interactions with different actors across the
		value chain
		Tools for inventory management
AgriDigital	Disintermediation of traditional supply chains through the usage of a digital platform	Tools for harvesting management
_		End-to-end traceability of different kinds of goods
		Tracking of on-site conditions for agricultural produce
	Provision of SAS for and to and tracking for breads of a	Certification of product autenticity
Arc-Net	types of goods throughout the value Chain	Collection of data inputs for planning advice and precision agriculture
		Offering of Financial services to rual populations in Africa through its digital marketplace
		Linking actors across agricultural supply chains
		Provision of infrastructure for blockchain-based digital
Atrikoro (Collulant)	Operating a digital market place connecting financial actors and agri supply chain actors	payments

Appendix B: Declaration of originality master's thesis

By signing this statement, I hereby acknowledge the submitted Master's thesis titled

"Empowering smallholder farmers in data-driven agriculture through blockchain technology"

to be produced independently by me, without external help.

Wherever I paraphrase or cite literally, a reference to the original source (journal, book, report, internet, etc.) is provided.

I declare to also have finalized the SDG statement for this thesis (available in the MSc. thesis documentfolder on the Intranet).

By signing this statement, I explicitly declare that I am aware of the fraud sanctions as stated in theEducation and Examination Regulations (MSc-EER 2023-2024) of SBE, Maastricht University.

Place:	Maastricht
Date:	June 21 st 2024
First and last name:	Daniel Acosta Stasiukynas
Study programme:	Sustainability Science, Society, and Policy
ID number:	6368752

Signature:

Appendix C: Sustainable development goals (SDG) statement

Through the research conducted for this Master's thesis, I seek to contribute to one or more of the 17 SDG(s) set forth by the United Nations (https://www.undp.org/sustainable-development-goals). Specifically:



SDG Code(s): 1 and 2

Explanation (max. 300 words):

This master thesis contributes to the advancement of SDGs 1 and 2 as it aims to explore how the integration of blockchain technology to data-driven agriculture might improve the livelihoods of smallholder farmers. As farmers are the most vulnerable and poor actors in global agricultural changes improvements in their livelihoods are expected to result in poverty reduction. Furthermore, smallholder farmers build the backbone of food production in many geographies. This study explores how the integration of blockchain technology in data-driven agriculture might result in productivity gains for smallholders, thus also contributing to the eradication of hunger.